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HYDROGEN GROUP PLC

Corporate governance statement
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Statement of compliance with the Combined Code

The Board of the Company 1s commutted to achieving high standards of corporate governance, integrity and ethics The
Financial Reporting Counci! (FRC) published the new 'UK Corporate Governance Code’ in June 2010, replacing the
‘Combined Code on Corporate Governance’, and in September 2010 the Quoted Compames Alliance (QCA) published
‘Corporate Governance Guide!ines for Smaller Quoted Companies’, replacing previous guidelines 1ssued 1n 2004 and 2005
Although as an AIM hsted company it 1s not formally required to do so, the Group has sought to comply with the 'UK
Corporate Governance Code’ so far as 1s practical and appropnate for a public group of its size and nature The Group
complies with the recommendations of the QCA on corporate governance

The Group’s approach to corporate governance

The Group seeks to apply estabhished best practice in the field of corporate governance so far as I1s practical and
appropnate for a public company of its size and nature The Board 1s focused on creating shareholder value through
respecting the needs of shareholders, employees, clients, candidates and contractors

Board effectiveness
The Board considers that it has shown ts commitment to leading and controlling the Group by

* Having a Board censtitution that exercises direction and supervision of the Group's operations and defines the hne of
responsibility from the Board to the business,

* Retaining specific responsibility for agreeing the strategic direction of the Group, the approval of accounts, business plan,
budget and capital expenditure, the declaration of dividends, the review of operating results, the effectiveness of
governance practice and nsk management, and also the appointment of sentor executives and succession planning, and

+ Delegating responsibilities to sub-committees, Audit Committee, Rernuneration Committee, and Nominations Committee

Board balance

The Group's commitment to achieving a balance of Executive and Non-Executive Directors 1s shown by the Non-Executive
Directors being considered to act independently of management and free from any business relationship that could
matenally interfere with the exercise of their Independent judgement The Company Secretary maintains a register of
conflicts of interest

The Board consists of 3 Executive Directors and 3 Non-Executive Directors The Non-Executive Directors meet at least
once a year without the presence of the Executive Directors

Transparency of Board appointments

The Nominations Commuttee 1s responsible for nominating candidates to fill Board vacancies and for making
recommendations on Board composition and balance The Committee 1s chared by the Sentor Independent Non-Executive
Director, Ishbel Macpherson The other members of the Committee are the Non-Executive Directors, Martyn Phillips and lan
Fallmann and the Executive Chairman, lan Temple

The Nominations Comnuttee met on three occasions dunng 2011 and was fully attended

The procedure for appomtments to the Board mcludes the requirement to specify the nature of the position In wnting and to
ensure that Non-Executive Director appointees have sufficient tme available to meet the demands of the position

The Norminations Committee’s Terms of Reference are reviewed annually and are available on the Group’s website
www hydrogengroup com

Regular re-election of Directors

All Directors are subject to re-election every three years Prior to re-nomination, the Nominations Commuittee will conduct an
assessment of the performance of each retinng Director The Board will not approve such a re-nomination if the
performance of the retinng Director 1s not considered satisfactory

The Board members due by rotation for re-election in 2012 are Tim Smeaton and Ishbe! Macpherson, and the Board have
considered and agreed that Tim and fshbel be put forward for re-election

Timelness and quality of Board information
The Board has sought to ensure that Directors are properly briefed on 1ssues ansing at Board meetings by establishing
procedures for

- Distnbuting Board papers mn advance of meetings and considenng the adequacy of the information provided before
making decisions,




HYDROGEN GROUP PLC

Corporate governance statement
For the year ended 31 December 2011

* Adjourning meetings or defernng decisions when Directors have concerns about the information available to them, and
* Making the Company Secretary responsible to the Board for the timeliness and quality of information

Performance evaluation

An evaluation of Board performance and effectiveness 1s undertaken annually Each Director completes a detailed
questionnaire giving thewr assessment of individual and collective performance The results are discussed and debated at
Board and Committee level to ensure that 1ssues ansing are effectively addressed In 2011 no major i1ssues were identfied
from the evaluation process

The Remuneration Committee set financial and personal development objectives for the Executive Directors Each
Executive Director has a performance review conducted biannually by another Executive Director

Going concemn

The major areas which could affect the Group's financial postion are detailed on page 18 and 19 Having taken account of
the situation outhined there the Directors are satisfied that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operation for
the foreseeable future For this reason they consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparnng the
financial statements

Dialogue with institutional and major shareholders

The Directors seek to build on a mutual understanding of objectives between the Group and its institutional shareholders
by

* Making annual and intenm presentations to institutional investors,

* Meeting shareholders to discuss long term issues and obtain their views,

» Communicating regularly throughout the year, and

* Regular meetings of the Board being used as the forum to ensure that Non-Executive Directors are updated on the views
of major sharehglders that have been communicated to the Executive Directors

Senor Independent Non-Executive Director
The Board has nominated Ishbel Macpherson as the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Ishbel Macpherson is avallable to shareholders who have concerns that cannot be addressed through the Chawrman or
Executive Directors

Constructive use of Annual General Meeting
The Board seeks to use the Annual General Meeting to communicate with private investors and encourage ther
participation by providing a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's position and prospects

Internal control

The Board is responsible for the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control The Group's system of internal
control is designed to safeguard the Group's assets and to ensure the reliability of mformation used within the business and
for publication Such a system 15 designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of faiure to achieve business objectives
and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance agamst material misstatement or loss

The full Board meets regularly and has a schedule of matters which are required to be brought to it or its duly authonsed

committee for decision, aimed at mantaining full and effective control over appropriate strategic, financial, operational and
compliance 1ssues on an ongoing basis

The Group held ten Board meetings in 2011, nine of which were fully attended, and one where one director was absent
The Board has put in place an organisatienal structure with clearly defined responsibilities and delegation of authonty

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee’s primary responsibilities are to review the financial statements, to review the internal control systems
including nsk management, to consider the appointment of the external auditors and their independence, and to review
audit effectiveness Annually, the Audit Committee considers the requirernent for an internal audit function and, to date, has
concluded that it 18 unnecessary for a group of the size and complexity of Hydrogen This will be kept under review

The Committee consists entirely of the independent Non-Executive Directors, and 1s chaired by the Senior Independent
Non-Executive Director, Ishbel Macpherson At the invitation of the Committee, the Finance Director, Chairman and
representatives of the external auditors attend the Audit Committee meetings The Audit Committee met without Executive
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Board members present once during the year, and had a meeting with the auditors without Executive Board members
present

The Audt Committee met four tmes during 2011 and was fully attended

The Audit Committee’s Terms of Reference are reviewed annually and are avaitable on the Group's website
www hydregengroup com

Whistleblowing policy
Hydrogen Group operates a positive commitment and open approach to whistleblowing 1t encourages all ndwiduals to
raise any concerns that they may have about the conduct of others in the business or the way in which the business 1s run

Martyn Phillips, Independent Non-Executive Director, is the Group’s appointed person for all whistleblowing matters and his
contact details are available to all staff, and are published on the Group’s intranet
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Scope and membership of Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee meets not less than twice a year and comprises the independent Non-Executive Directors
The Committee is chaired by Martyn Phillips The Executive Chaiman and Executive Directors attend the meetings by
invitation, but are not present when their own remuneration is under consideration

The purpose of the Remuneration Commuttee 1s to review, on behalf of the Board, the remuneration policy for the :
Chatrman, Executive Directors and other Senior Executives and to determine the level of remuneration, incentives and
other benefits, compensation payments and the terms of employment of the Executive Directors and other Senior
Executives It seeks to provide a remuneration package that ahigns the interests of Executive Directors with that of the
shareholders

The Committee reviews the remuneration of the Executive Directors with regard to the need to mamtain a balance between
the constituent elements of salary, incentive and other benefits The Remuneration Comrmuttee met on five occasions in
2011, four of which were fully attended and one were one director was absent The Terms of Reference for the
Remuneration Committee may be found on the Group's website, www hydrogengroup com

Remuneration policy

The objective of the Group’s remuneration policy 1s to attract, motivate and retain management with the appropriate
professional, managenal and operational expertise necessary to realise the Group's objectives as well as to establish a
framework for remunerating all employees

It1s the Group's policy that all Executive Directors’ service contracts contain a 12 months' notice penod The Non-Executive
Directors have letters of appointment with the Group which have notice pertods of three months

The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors 1s determined by the Board The Non-Executive Directors do not receive
any pension or other benefits, other than out-of-pocket expenses, from the Group, nor do they participate in any of the
bonus or share option schemes

The remuneration agreed by the Committee for the Executive Directors contains the following elements a base salary and
benefits, a bi-annual and an annual bonus reflecting Group and indwidual performance and share options

The following sections prowvide an outhne of the Group's remuneration policy

Base salary and benefits

Service contracts exist for each Executive Director that set contractual obligations The Commuttee establishes salares and
benefits by reference to those prevailing in the employment market generally for Executive Directors of companies of
comparable status and market value Reviews of such base salary and benefits are conducted annually by the Committee
having regard to wage inflation in the economy No salary increases were granted for 2010 The external benchmarking
conducted 1n 2011 was the first to take account of the increased complexity associated with a business derwing a
significant proportion of its income from international activities, and concluded that remuneration levels were some way
below the market median As a consequence, average salary increases of 15% were awarded to the existing members of
the Board in January 2011, but were deferred by the directors to July 2011 No salary increases have been awarded for
2012

Annual bonus plan
The Commuttee firmly believes in the effectiveness of incentive bonuses Accordingly every employee of the Group s In
some form of incentive scheme

Annual bonuses for the Executive Directors are set by the Remuneration Committee at the start of each year and are
dependent on the achievement of objectives and net fee income targets dunng the financial year In 2011, the maximum
annual bonus entitiement for Executive Directors was equal to 100% of therr base salary and the average earned in the
year was 40%
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Share option schemes

Durning 2011 share options were granted to Executive Directors under the Hydrogen Group Unapproved share option
scheme (see note 16) As at the year end the options outstanding are set out In the table below

Options
Year Options  Granted Exercised outstanding Earliest Latest Exercise
of outstanding duning  durning the K3 exercise exercise price per
155U 1January the year year December date date option (£)
2011
EMI Options
Tim Smeaton 2006 124,200 - - 124,200 29/09/06  29/09/16 0805
2009 22,362 - - 22,362 31/03/13  20/10/19 Nil
lan Temple 2009 40,000 - - 40,000 3170313 20M10/19 Nil
John Glover 2007 35,205 - - 35,205 30/09/10 30/09/17 Nil
2009 28,808 - - 28,808 31/0313  20M10/19 Nil
Unapproved options
Tim Smeaton 2009 17,638 - - 17,638 31/03/13 20710119 Nil
2011 - 138,000 - 138,000 31/03114 21/02/21 Nil
lan Temple 2011 - 38,000 - 38,000 31/03/14 21/02/21 Nil
John Glover 2007 5,750 - - 5750 30/09/10 30/09/17 Nil
2009 9,192 - - 9,192 31/0313 20/10/19 Nil
2011 - 38,000 - 38,000 31/0314 21/02121 Nil
283,155 214,000 - 497,155
2010
EM! Options
Tim Smeaton 2006 124,200 - - 124,200 29/09/06  29/09/16 0 805
2009 22,362 - - 22,362 31/03/13 2010119 Nil
lan Temple 2009 40,000 - - 40,000 31/03113  200110/19 Nil
John Glover 2007 35,206 - - 35,205 30/09/10  30/09/17 Nil
2009 28,808 - - 28,808 31/0313 2010119 Nil
Unapproved options
Tim Smeaton 2009 17,638 - - 17,638 31/0313 20110119 Nit
John Glover 2007 5,750 - - 5750 30/09/10  30/08/17 Nif
2009 9,192 - - 9,192 3103113 2010419 Nil
283,155 - - 283,155

14
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Performance critena

The performance crtena on Directors share options are as follows

Options Issued 1n 2006

Options vested in full on admission of the Hydrogen Group plc to the AIM market in 2006

Options 1ssued n 2007

Options vested i three tranches in the penod 2008-2010 dependent on the profitability of the Hydrogen Group plc in each
of these three years The performance critena were met on 60% of the options, the remaining 40% lapsed
Options 1ssued 1in 2009

Options vest in 2013 dependent on the profitability of the Hydrogen Group plc in the pencd 2010 to 2012
Options 1ssued 1in 2011

Options vest in 2014 dependent on the net fee iIncome and profitability of the Hydrogen Group pic in 2013

Share option scheme for Directors

Dunng the year options over shares were granted to Executive Directors under the Hydrogen Group Unapproved Share
Option scheme The number of options that vest 1s dependent on Hydrogen Group plc net fee Income and profitability for
the financia! year 2013, and the vesting date 1s 31 March 2014 Options may be exercised without the payment of an
exercise price and may be exercised up to 10 years from date of grant, after which they expire Options are forfeit if the
Director leaves the Group before options vest, except where the Director leaves for qualifying reasons Detail on the
number of options 1ssued dunng the year and the number outstanding at 31 December 2011 are given in note 16

Share options scheme for senior employees

Duning the year options over shares were granted to semor employees below Board level Options were granted under the
Hydrogen Group Unapproved Share Option scheme The number of options that vest 1s dependent on the Hydroegen Group
plc Net Fee Income and Profitability for the financial year 2011, and the vesting date 1s 31 March 2013 Options may be
exercised without the payment of an exercise prnice and may be exercised up to 10 vears from date of grant, after which
they expire Options are forfert if the employee leaves the Group before options vest, except where the employee leaves for
qualifying reasons Detail on the number of options issued duning the year and the number outstanding at 31 December
2011 are given In note 16

Share pnce chart

Set out below 1s a graph of the Company’s share price performance since flotation on AIM, benchmarked against the
support services index
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Emoluments

The aggregate emoluments of the Directors for the year were as follows

Salary and
fees Benefits Bonuses Total Pension Total

£000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
2011
Executive Directors
Tim Smeaton 215 2 91 308 - 308
lan Temple 215 2 72 289 - 289
John Glover 147 1 69 217 - 217
Non-Executive Directors
Ishbel Macphersaen 40 - - 40 - 40
Martyn Phillips 33 - - 33 - 33
tan Fallmann 25 - - 25 - 25
Aggregate emoluments 675 5 232 912 - 912
2010
Executive Directors
Tim Smeaton 195 12 188 395 - 305
lan Temple 195 12 173 380 - 380
John Glover 130 7 126 263 - 263
Chnis Cole* 63 5 12 a0 - 80
Non-Executive Directors
Ishbel Macpherson 35 - - 35 - 35
Martyn Phillips 20 - - 20 - 20
lan Falimann {from date of
appointment 7/10/10) 6 - - 6 - 6
Aggregate emoluments 644 36 499 1,179 - 1,179

* resigned from the Board on 2 March 2010

Benefits above include car allowance and medica! insurance The Group does not operate a defined benefit pension

scheme

Qutside appointments

The Remuneration Committee recognises that Non-Executive Director roles can be a significant benefit in broadening the
Executive Board's experience Subject to review tn each case, the Remuneration Committee’s general policy s that
Executive Directors may accept Non-Executive Director roles with other companies, so long as there 1s no conflict of
interest and thewr effectiveness 1s not impared The Executive 15 permitted to retain any fees for the service None of the

Executive Directors currently held any non-executive director appointments

Service contracts

All Executive Directors' service contracts contain a 12 month notice period The service contracts also contain restrictive
covenants preventing the Executive Directors from competing with the Group for one year following the termimation of
employment and preventing Executive Directors from soliciting key employees, clients and candidates of the employing
Group and Group companies for 12 months following termmation of employment On termination, any compensation
payments due to a Director are calculated in accordance with normal legal pnnciples

Annual resolution

Shareholders will be given the opportumty to approve the Remuneration Report at the Annual General Meeting

M Phithps
Chaiman, Remuneration Commitiee
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The Directors submit their report and the audited Group financial statements of Hydrogen Group plc for the year ended 31
December 2011 Hydrogen Group 15 a public listed company, incorporated and domiciled in England, and its shares are
quoted on the AIM Market

Principal activities and business review

The pnncipal activities of the Group are to provide specialist professional recruitment services, placing high-calibre
professionals, on a permanent and contract basis The mamn trading subsidianies are Hydrogen UK Limited and Hydrogen
International Limited in the UK, Hydrogen Group Pty Ltd in Australia, Hydrogen Group Pte Ltd in Singapore and Hydrogen
Group Ltd in Hong Kong A review of the business, as well as expected future developments, 1s included in the Chairman's
Statement, Chief Executive’s Review and the Financial Review on pages 1 to 6

Principal nsks and uncertainties

The pnincipal nisks and uncertainties facing the Group are reviewed on a regular basis by the Board The Group's strategy
1s designed to assign ownership and develop plans to mitigate the effects of the identified risks The principal nsks facing
the business are as follows

Information technology

In delivery of its service to clients and candidates the Group 1s highly dependent on a number of technology systems and
the nfrastructure on which they operate The Group has completed the outsourcing of all its network and hardware to a
third party provider The provision of this service includes backup in event of hardware or network fallure The Group 1s also
in the process of upgrading its front office systems to ensure that they provide appropnate functionality and resilience to
support its global operations, both existing and planned

People

The Group 1s dependent on its ability to hire, train and retain people to achieve its growth To address this, the Group has
put in place an internal recrutment function, a programme of training and development designed to equip leaders with the
necessary skills, undertakes ngorous succession planning, and has implemented long term remuneration plans (as outiined
In note 16) targeted at retaining the best talent

Reliance on UK market/operational capability to support international expansion

The Group has a strategy of expanding the industry sectors and geographies in which it operates, one objective of which Is
to reduce its rellance on the UK recruitment market However, this strategy does potentially expose the Group to risks that
operational capability, systems and processes, and internal controls fail to keep pace with complexities introduced by
geographic expansion To manage this nisk, the Group has a ranking mechanmism for geographies and sectors that includes
camplexity of operation and compliance, and regularly reviews the imings of entrance into new markets against its
resource plan and nsk profile

Macro economic climate
The performance of the economies of the countnes in which the Group operates can have a major impact on the
performance of the Group Steps taken to mitigate this in part are

- Maintaining a balance between contract and permanent recruitment,

- Diversifying the sectors and geographies in which the Group cperates,

- Where feasible, employing a mix of in-house and out-sourced resources to provide a flexible cost base, and
- Maintaining a strong balance sheet

Regulatory environment

The recrutment industry 1s subject to increasing levels of regulation and comphance, which vanes from country to country,
and industry to industry The Group 1s committed to be compliant and takes a conservative approach in areas where
judgement is required

Customer conceptration
One customer in the Business Technology praclice represents approximately 156% of the Group's net fee income for 2011
Other than fluctuations in client demand ansing in the nomal course of business, and the Group ability to win new clients,
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there 1s no expectation of significant change in this position in the foreseeable future No other customer represents more
than 5% of the Group's net fee iIncome

Foreign exchange nsk

Approximately 80% of the Group's revenue in 2011 was denominated in Sterling For contract revenue the Group ams to
pay and bill in the same currency to provide a natural hedge for the majornity of its revenues During 2011 the Group utiised
foreign currency options to manage the foreign exchange nsk on its non-Sterling fees

Key Performance Indicators

The business has processes to monitor these key nsks to business performance Some of the key performance indicators
(KPIs) used by the Group to monitor progress are hsted below

KPi 2011 2010
Net fee income (NFI)‘ £M 298 276
Conversion ratio {(PBT and excephional cost divided by gross profit) % 12 4% 91%
Productivity (gross profit divided by total average headcount) £k 86 89
Days of sales outstanding (DSO) days 27 25
Percentage of NF1 billed cutside of the UK % 3% 32%
Permanent contract spit of NFI % 46/54 54/46
Ratio of billing headcount to support headcount (average for year) 28 29

Gross profit

Fmancial instruments

Information m respect of financral instruments 1s set out m the note 24 to the financial statements

Capatal structure

Detatls of the authonsed and rssued share capital, together with movements during the year are shown in note 17 The
Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no night to fixed income, and which represent 100% of the total
issued nominal value of all share capital Each share carnes the nght to one vote at general meetings of the Company

There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding nor on the transfer of shares, which are both governed by the
general provisions of the Articles of Association and prevailing legisiation The Directors are not aware of any agreements
between holders of the Company's shares that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting nights

Details of employee share schemes are set out in note 16 No voles are cast in respect of shares held in the Hydrogen
Employee Share Trust or the Hydrogen Group Share Incentive Plan

No person has any special nghts of control over the Company’s share caprtal and all ds ssued shares are fully paid

With regard to the appointment and replacement of Directors, the Company Is governed by its Articles of Association, the
Companies Acts and related legislation The Articles themselves may be amended by special resolution of the
shareholders The powers of Directors are described in the Main Board Terms of Reference, copies of which are available
on request and are summansed in the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 10 to12

Pursuant to a shareholder resolution at the AGM of the Company on 25 May 2011, the Company has the authonty to 1ssue
ordinary shares up to a maximum nominal amount of £78,381, representing one third of the current 1ssued share capital of
the Company at 31 December 2010, dunng the penod up to the next AGM Shareholders will be asked to renew this authonty
at the AGM 1n 2012
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Results and dividends

Information in respect of the Group's profits, dividends and other key financial information 1s contained within the Financial

Review

Going concern

It should be recognised that any consideration of the foreseeable future involves making a judgement, at a particular point
In ime, about future events, which are inherently uncertain

The Group has two revenue streams, permanent and contract recruitment The cash flow characlenstics of the two streams

interact 1n a complementary fashion The permanent business, which has little working capital requirement, 18 cash

generative duning the growth phase, and with tight cost control, near to cash neutral in a downturn By contrast, the contract

business has a large working capital requirement, and requires significant cash investment during a period of growth, butis
cash generative in the first peniods of a downturn The model operated by the majonty of recruitment businesses is to fund
the investment in working capital by utilising the asset created as security for asset backed financing The rate of cash
investment during the growth phase can be controlied by management decisions in accepting or rejecting new business

The Group's contractor numbers and consequent working capital nvestment have rematned relatively stable dunng 2011
The Group's bankers have increased available invoice discounting facilities to £18m i 2011, committed to February 2014,
of which the Group's maximum utiisation in 2011 was 66% The Group have prepared forecasts for the period to March
2013, and shared these with its bankers The Directors have no reason to believe that its bankers will not continue to
support its plans  Consequently the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group will have adequate resources
to continue operating in the foreseeable future On these grounds the Board have continued to adopt the going concern

basis for the preparation of the financial statements

Directors

The following Directors have held office during the year

Tim Smeaton

lan Temple

John Glover
Ishbel Macpherson
Martyn Phillips

lan Fallmann

Bref biographies on each of the Directors are set out on pages 6 and 7 Dunng the penod the Company maintained
insurance for its Directors and Officers, who also had the benefit of an indemnity provision in the Company's Articles of

Association

Directors’ interests in shares

Directors’ beneficial interests in the shares of the Company were as follows

Ordinary shares of 1p

each held at

31 Dec 2011
lan Temple 4,148,259
Tim Smeaton 2,818,134
Ishbel Macpherson 40,402
Martyn Philips 18,850
lan Fallmann 22,247

Percentage of
1ssued share capital
at 31 Dec 2011

17 6%
12 0%
02%
01%
01%

Ordinary shares of 1p
each held at
31 Dec 2010

4,080,259
2,760,134
40,402
18,850

Details of Directors’ share options are provided in the Directors’ remuneration report on page 14
No changes took place in the interests of Directors between 31 December 2011 and 2 March 2012

Percentage of
1ssued share capital
at 31 Dec 2010

17 4%
11 7%
02%
01%
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Substantial shareholders

At 2 March 2012, other than the Directors’ interests shown above, the Company had been notified of the following
substantal shareholdings

Interest in 1Issued share

Shareholder capital at 2 March 2012
Chns Cole 12 5%
AXA Investment Managers SA 97%
Charles Marshall 79%
Majedie Asset Management 6 5%
Daniel Church 57%
Hydrogen Group Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) 50%
Barnaby Parker 39%
Nrcola Parker 39%
Universities Superannuation Scheme 38%
Hydregen Group Share Incentive Plan 1 9%

Employee involvement

The mvolvement of the employees in the business 1s key to therr engagement and ultirmately its success The business 1s
organised 1nto two segments based on discipline with business leaders empowered to run therr operations within the
operating framework of the Group This allows for the two way flow of information between staff and the management
responsible for their careers The people framework includes guarterly reviews and goal setting for all staff, together with
regular presentations on indvdual performance of divisions Al staff are treated as indmiduals and are managed
accordingly to create an environment where they can fulfil their maximum potental

Equal opportunities

The Group 1s committed to the principles of hinng based purely on individual merit for both its ewn staff and for clients The
Group 1s committed to equal opportunities and aims to ensure all staff are trained and understand these policies

Disabled employees

The Group continues to give full and fair consideration to applications for employment made by disabled persons, having
regard 1o their respective aptitudes and abilitres

Acquisition of the Company's own shares

At the end of the year, the Directors had authonty, pursuant to the shareholders’ resolutrons of 25 May 2011, to purchase
through the market, 2,351,442 ordinary shares with a nominal value of £0 01 each This represented 10% of the
Company’s 1ssued ordinary share capital at the date of the resolution, at prices ranging between 1p and 105% of the
average of the middle market guotations for an ordinary share taken from the London Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date on which such share ts contracted to be purchased

This authorty expires on 25 November 2012 Shareholders will be asked to renew that authonty at the Annual General
Meeting of the Company

During 2011 the Company donated the funds to enable the EBT trust to purchase 150,000 ordinary shares of Hydrogen
Group ple for a total consideration of £129,000
Employee share schemes

The Group beleves that share ownership 15 a key way of motivabng and retaining staff and aligning their interests with
those of shareholders The Group operates a number of share schemes, further details of which are set out in note 16, and
1s committed to continwing to encourage participation in share schemes

20
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Social responsibility

The Board recognises its responsibilities in respect of social, environmental and ethical matters The policies set out by the
Group are detalled on page 8 of this report

Policy on the payment of payables

The Group's payment terms and conditions with individual suppliers vary according to the commercial relationship and the
terms of the agreements reached [t 1s the policy of the Group that payments to suppliers are made in accordance with the
terms agreed The average number of days’ purchases included withm trade payables at the year end for the Company
was 18 days (2010 25 days), based on the average dally amount invoiced by suppliers during the year As a holding
company, with httle purchasing activity, this measure 15 highly volatile depending on timing of receipt of invoices

Charitable and political donations

Buring the year, the Group made chantable donations of £5,825 (2010 £5,000), matching donations made by employees of
the Group

Auditors

Grant Thornton UK LLP offer themselves for re-appointment in accordance with Section 489 of the Companies Act 2006
Statement as to disclosure of information to auditors

The Directors who were in office on the date of approval of these financial statements have confirmed that, as far as they
are aware, there 1s no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware The Directors have confirmed that they
have taken appropriate steps to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has been
communicated to the auditors

By order of the Board

C At oo

J G Glover
Finance Director

Company registration number 5563206

21




HYDROGEN GRCOUP PLC
Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparning the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with
apphicable law and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the Directors
have elected to prepare the Group's financial statements in accordance with International Financral Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union (IFRSs) and have elected to prepare the Company's financial statements in accordance
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and Applicable law)
Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true
and far view of the state of affairs and profit or fess of the Company and Group for that period In preparing these financial
statements, the Directors are required to

. select suitable accounting policres and then apply them consistently,
. make Judgments and accounting estmates that are reasonable and prudent,
. for the Group financial statements, state whether applicable IFRSs have been followed, subject to any matenal

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements,

. for the Company financial statements, state whether apphicable UK accounting standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financral statements,

. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s inappropniate to presume that the Group and
Company will continue in business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company’s transactions and disclese with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and its
Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregulanties

In so far as each of the Directors 1s aware
. there 15 no relevant audit informattan of which the Company's auditor are unaware, and

. the Directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the auditor are aware of that information

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of the corporate and financial information included on the
Company's website Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation n other junsdictions
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HYDROGEN GROUP PLC

Independent auditor's report
To the members of Hydrogen Group plc

We have audited the group financial statements of Hydrogen Group plc for the year ended 31 December 2011 which
comprse the consohdated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of financial position, the
consolidated statement of changes i equity, the consolidated statement of cash flows, accounting policies and the related
notes The financial reporting framework that has been applied w their preparation 1s applicable law and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union

This report 18 made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Par 16 of the
Companes Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those
matters we are required tc state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's members as a body,
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibiities Statement (set cut on page 22), the Directors are responsible for
the preparation of the group financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view Our
responsibility 15 to audit and express an opinion on the Group financial statements in accordance with apphcable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices
Board's (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A description of the scope of an audit of financia! statements 1s provided on the APB's website at
www frc org uk/apb/scope/private cfm

Opimion on financral statements

In our opinion the group financial statements

. give a true and fairr view of the state of the Group's affairs as at 31 December 2011 and of its profit for the year then

ended,
. have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, and
. have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Optnion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

tn our opinion the information given in the Directors' Report for the financial year for which the Group financial statements
are prepared I1s consistent with the group financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if,
N Qur opINlan

. cerntan disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made, or

. we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Other matter

We have reported separately on the parent Company financial statements of Hydrogen Group plc for the year ended 31
December 2011

erk Thorke. WhiL?

Charles Hutton-Potts BSc, FCA

Semor Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
London

5 March 2012
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HYDROGEN GROUP PLC

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010

Note £'000 £'000
Revenue 1 156,195 123,398
Cost of sales {126,418) (95,804)
Gross profit 1 29,777 27,594
Administratron expenses (25,911) (24,990)
Operating profit 1 3,866 2,604
Finance costs 2 (188) (162)
Finance income 3 32 18
Profit before taxation 4 3,710 2,460
Income tax expense 6 (1,296) (709)
Profit for the year 20 2,414 1,751
Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (14) 269
Other comprehensive income {14) 269
Total comprehensive income for the period 2,400 2,020
Attnbutable to
Equity holders of the parent 2,400 2,020
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share {pence) 19 10 95p 7 96p
Diluted earnings per share {pence) 19 10 24p 7 54p
The abave results refate to continuing operations

N I
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HYDROGEN GROUP PLC

Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2011

2011 2010
Note £'000 £'000
Non-current assets
Goodwill 7 13,658 13,658
OCther intangible assets 8 492 80
Property, plant and equipment 8 1,220 1,429
Deferred tax assets 10 409 312
Other financial assets 11 543 1,311
16,322 16,790
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 11 25,609 26,305
Cash and cash equivalents 12 1,977 828
27,586 27133
Total assets 43,908 43,923
Current hiabibties
Trade and other payables 13 14,313 16,684
Borrowings 14 3,330 3.040
Current tax habilities 777 a74
Provisions 15 336 356
18,756 20,454
Non-current habtlities
Deferred tax habilities 10 71 43
Provisions 15 201 375
272 418
Total habilities 19,028 20,872
Net assets 24,880 23,051
Equuty
Capital and reserves attnbutable to the Company’s equity holders
Called-up share capital 17 235 235
Share premium account 20 3,512 3,510
Merger reserve 20 16,100 16,100
Own shares held 18 (1,320) (1,373)
Share option reserve 20 100 100
Other reserve 20 1,744 1,393
Translation reserve 20 335 349
Retatned earnings 20 4,174 2,737
Total equity 24,880 23,051

The financial statements on pages 24 to 54 were approved by the Board of Directors and authonsed for issue on 2 March 2012
and are signed ¢n its behalf by

Director
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HYDROGEN GROUP PLC

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

As at 31 December 2011

Called-
up Share Own Share Trans-
share premium Merger shares option Other {ation Retained Total
capital account reserve held reserve reserve reserve earnings equity

£000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2010 234 3,479 16,100 (838) 100 1,267 80 2102 22524
Dividends - - - - - - - (1,1160) (1,116)
Increase In share
capital 1 31 - - - - - - 3z
Share option charge - - - . - 126 - . 126
Purchase of shares by
EBT - - - {535) - - - - {535)
Transactions with
owners 1 31 - (535) - 126 - (1,116) (1,493)
Profit for the year 1,751 1,751
Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency
translation - - - - - - 269 - 269
Total comprehensive
income for the pernod - - - - - - 269 1,751 2,020
At 31 December 2010 235 3,510 16,100 (1,373) 100 1,393 348 2,737 23,051
Dividends - - - - - - - (913} {(913)
Increase n share
capital - 2 - - - - - - 2
Share option charge . - . - - 351 . R 351
Tax on share option
charge - - - - - - - 15 15
Purchase of shares by
EBT - - - (129) - - - - (129)
Shares issued from
EBT - - - 182 - - - (79) 103
Transactions with
owners - 2 - 53 - 51 - (977) {571}
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 2,414 2,414
Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency
transiabhon - - - - - - {14) - {14)
Total comprehensive
\ncome for the period - - - - - {14) 2,414 2,400
At 31 December 2011 235 3,512 16,100  (1,320) 100 1,744 335 4,174 24,880
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HYDROGEN GROUP PLC

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
Note £'000 £000
Net cash from/{used in) operating activities 22a 2,531 {2,393)
Investing activities
Finance income 32 18
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equiprment 44 36
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (328) (1,341)
Purchase of software assets (471) (59)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired - (218)
Net cash used In investing activities (723} (1,564)
Financing activities
Proceeds on ssuance of ordinary shares 103 32
Purchase of own shares by EBT 18 {129) (535)
Increase in other borrowings 14 290 3,040
Equity dividends paid 5 {913) {1,116)
Net cash (used in)/ generated in financing activities (649) 1,421
Net increase /(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,159 (2,536)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 12 828 3,108
Effect of foretign exchange rate changes {10} 256
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 12 1,977 828
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HYDROGEN GROUP PLC

Accounting policies
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Nature of operations

Hydrogen Group plc ("the company™) and its subsidiaries’ (together “the Group™) principal achvity 1s the provision of
recruitment services for mid to senior level professional staff The Group consists of two operating segments offering both
permanent and contract specralist recruitment consultancy for large and medium sized orgamsations The Group operates
primanly in the technology, finance, professional and engineering sectors  Histonically the Group has operated
predominantly in the United Kingdom, but 1s becoming increasingly international, with operations 1n Australia, Singapore
and Hong Kong, plus a number of internationally focused teams based in the UK

Hydrogen Group plc 1s the Group’s ultimate parent company The Company Is a limited habilty company incorporated and
domiciled in the United Kingdom The address of Hydrogen Group's registered office and its pnincipal place of business 1s 6
Laurence Pountney Hill, London, EC4R OBL, England Hydrogen Group's shares are isted on the AIM Market

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 (including comparatives) are presented in GBP
‘000, and were approved and authensed for issue by the Board of Directors on 2 March 2012

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Hydrogen Group plc have been prepared in accordance with Intemational
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS") as endorsed by the European Unton and also comply with IFRIC interpretations and
Company Law applicable to companies reporting under IFRS The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the histoncal cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets and financial iabilities at fair value
through the profit or loss

The Group's accounting policies, as set out below, have been consistently applied to all the penods presented

The factors constdered by the Directors in exercising therr judgment of the Group's ability to continue to operate in the
foreseeable future are set out on pages 18 and 19 On these greunds the Board consider it reasonable to continue to adopt
the going concern basis for the preparation of the financral statements

international Accounting Standards {IAS/IFRS) and interpretations in issue but not yet adopted

At the date of authonsation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations that have not been
applied in these financral statements were in 1ssue but not yet effective or endorsed (unless otherwise stated)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective 1 January 2015)

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (effective 1 January 2013)

IFRS 11 Jont Arrangements (effective 1 January 2013)

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entitres (effective 1 January 2013)

IFRS 13 Farr Value Measurement (effective 1 January 2013)

1AS 19 Employee Benefits (Rewised June 2011) (effective 1 January 2013)

IAS 27 (Revised), Separate Financial Statements (effective 1 Januvary 2013)

IAS 28 (Revised), Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (effective 1 January 2013)

Deferred Tax Recovery of Underlying Assets - Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes {effective 1 January 2012)

Severe Hypennflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters - Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards (effective 1 July 2011)

Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income - Amendments to IAS 1 {effective 1 July 2012)

Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Amendments to IFRS 7 (effective 1 January 2013)
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilittes - Amendments to 1AS 32 (effective 1 January 2014)

Mandatory Effective Date and Transition Disclosures - Amendments 1o IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 (effective 1 January 2015)
IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs 1n the Production Phase of a Surface Mine (effective 1 January 2013)

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of the remaining Standards and Interpretations 1n future penods will have no
matenal impact on the financial statements of the Group
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HYDROGEN GROUP PLC

Accounting policies
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Consoldation

The consolidated financial information incorporates those of Hydrogen Group pic and all of its subsidiary undertakings rmade
up to 31 December each year Where ngcessary, adjustments are made to the financial stalements of subsidianes to bring the
accounting policies into hne with those used by the Group Inter-company transactions and balances on transactions between
Group companies are eliminated on consolidation

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting The cost of an acquisition 15 measured
as the cash paid and the faur value of other assets given, equity instruments 1ssued and habilities incurred or assumed at the
date of exchange Costs of acqusiion are recognised as an expense when mcurred Goodwill ansing on business
combinations prior to 1 January 2006, the date of transiion to IFRS, s stated at the previous UK GAAP carrying amount

Subsidianes are all entities over which the Group has the power to gavern the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting nghts Subsidianes are fully consolidated from the date at
which control 1s transferred to the Group They are all deconsolidated from the date that control ceases

Revenue

Revenue, which excludes value added tax, compnises the fairr value of the consideration recerved or recevable for services
undertaken by the Group under its principal activity, which is the prowision of recruitment consultancy services This broadly
consists of

- revenue from contractor placements, representing fees received and receivable for the services of contractor staff
including the salary cost of these staff, being recognised when the sefvice has been provided,

- revenue from permanent placements, representing fees received and recewable as a percentage of the candidate's
remuneration package, being recognised when a candidate accepts an offer of employment and a start date has been
determined

In the supply of contractors the Group’s contractual arrangements mean that it operates as principal and not 11 an agency
capacity As such, it bears all the nsks and rewards of the income denved from placements, and accordingly includes in
turnover both commission and salary costs of staff supplied

Revenue not invoiced at the year end 1s included within accrued income  An adjustment based on past expernence 1s made
against accrued income on account of possible cancellations of placements before the commencement of employment

Cost of sales

Cost of sales consists of the salary cost of temporary staff and other direct costs, pnncipally advertising costs

Gross profit

Gross profit 1s represented by revenue less cost of sales

Finance costs

All borrowing costs are recogmised in profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred

Goodwill

Goodwill compnising the difference between the cost of acquisition of shares in subsidiaries and the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired 1s capitalised at cost and 15 subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated
imparrment losses It 15 reviewed annually for impaimment, and any impairment s recognised immedsately in profit and loss
and is nol subsequently reversed Determining whether goodwill 1s impaired requires an estimation of the value n use of
the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been aliocated The value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate
the future cash flows expected to anse from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
present value

Other intangible assets

Software costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation less provision for impairment Amortisation is calculated to
write off the cost in equal annual instalments over three years
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HYDROGEN GROUP PLC

Accounting policies
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Trademarks costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation less provision for impairment  Amortisation 1s
calculated to wnte off the cost in equal annual instalments over three years

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumutated deprectation less provisions for impaiment
Depreciation 1s provided on all property, plant and equipment at rates calculated to wiite off the cost less estimated residual
value on a straight line basis over therr estimated useful lives, as follows -

Computer and office equipment 33% straight lne
Motor vehicles 25% straight ine
Fixtures, fitings and eguipment Remaining Iife of lease {or 5 years if shorter)
Leasehold improvements Remaining Iife of lease (or 5 years if shorter)

The gain or loss ansing on the disposal or retrement of an asset 1s determined as the difference between the sale proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and 1s recognised in profit or loss

Impairment of assets

At each year end, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its other intangible and tangible assets to detenmine whether
there 1s any evidence that those assets have suffered an imparment loss An mpairment loss 1s recogmsed for the amount by
which the asset's camying amount exceeds s recoverable amount The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's far
value less costs to sell and value in use For the purposes of mpasment assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units)

Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment 1n which the entty operates (the functional currency) The consolidated financial statements are presented in
sterling, which 1s the Company's functional and presentationa! currency

In prepanng the financia!l statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end
exchange rates of monetary assets and habilties denominated in foreign currencies are recogmsed  profit or loss

On consolidation, the results and financial posttion of all the Group entities that have a funchional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows

m assets and liabilities for each year end presented are translated at the closing rate of that year end,
{n) income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at the average rates,

{m) all resulting exchange differences are recogrised in other comprehensive income

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the current tax expense and deferred tax expense

The tax currently payable 1s based on taxable profit for the year Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported n the
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible The Group's liability for current tax 1s calculated
using rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date

Deferred income tax 1s provided i full, using the hability method, on temporary differences ansing between the tax bases of
assets and habilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements, except those ansing from the
inihial recognition of goodwaill

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 15 probable that future taxable profit will be avarlable agamnst
which the temporary differences can be utilised
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Accounting policies
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Deferred income tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which temporary differences
are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting
date Deferred income tax 1s measured on a non-discounted basis Deferred income tax 1s charged or credited to profit or
loss, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred income tax 1s also
dealt with in equity

Deferred income tax 15 provided on temporary tming differences ansing on investments in subsidianes, except where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference 1s controlled by the Group and it i1s probable that the temporary difference
wiil not reverse in the foreseeable future

Leased assets and obligations

Where assets are financed by leasing arrangements that give nghts approximating to ownership (finance leases), the
assets are treated as if they had been purchased outright The amount capitalised 1s the lower of fair value or the present
value of the minimum lease payments payable during the lease term The carresponding leasing commitments are shown
as obhgations to the lessor The property, plant or equipment acquired under finance leases 15 depreciated over the shorter
of the asset's useful Ife and the lease term

Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction in lease obligations so as to achieve a constant
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss

All other leases are operating leases and the annual rentals are charged to profit or loss on a straight ine basis over the
lease term

The benefit of rent free penods receved for entenng into a lease 1s spread evenly over the lease term

Operating lease iIncome

Operating lease income s credited to profit or loss on a straight ine basis over the lease term

Pensions

The Group does not operate a pension scheme for employees but makes contributions to the personal defined contribution
pension plans of certain Directors and semor members of staff  The pension costs charged to profit or loss represent the
contrnbutions payable by the Group durning the year

Share Incentive Plan

Under The Hydrogen Group plc Share Incentive Plan (the SIP) shares are held in trust on behalf of employees for a
mimimum of three years The farr value of shares awarded 15 measured at the date of grant by reference to the market price
of the shares on the day, and 1s expensed on a straight ine basis over the vesting penod, based on the Group's estimate of
shares that will eventually vest

The finance costs and administration costs relating to the SIP are charged to profit or loss Dividend income ansing on own
shares are excluded in arriving at profit before taxation and deducted from aggregate dividends paid and proposed The
shares are ignored for the purposes of calculating the Company's earnings per share

Other share-based payments

Where options are awarded after 7 November 2002 and were unvested as of 1 January 2006, the far value of the
employee services received In exchange for the grant of the share options 1s charged to the profit or loss statement over
the vesting period of the share opuion, based on the number of options which are expected to become exercisable A
corresponding adjustment 1s made to equity Faur value 1s measured by use of a binomial model At each year end, the
Group revises Its estimates of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable and recognises the impact of
any revision of ornginal estimates i profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to equity

When the options are exercised the proceeds recewved are credited to share capstal and share premium, where
appropriate

Where the conditions attached to share options are modified but without any change to the value of the award to the
employee then the Group recognises the amount that would have been recognised for the award if it had remarned n place
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Accounting policies
For the year ended 31 December 2011

on its onginal terms

Employee Benefit Trust

The Hydrogen Group plc Employee Benefit Trust (EBT Trust) 1s funded by contributions from the Company Under the
terms of the EBT shares are held n trust for the benefit of employees

Administration costs and the assets and habilities of the EBT are consolidated into the Hydrogen Group plc financial

statements Shares in the EBT Trust are held at acquisition cost and deducted from shareholders equity Any assets held |
by the EBT cease to be recogrised on the Group statement of financial positron when the assets vest unconditionally to

dentified beneficianes The proceeds from the sale of own shares held increase equity Nerther the purchase nor sale of

own shares leads to a gamn or loss being receogrsed in the Group profit or loss

If there 1s deemed to be a permanent diminution in value this 1s reflected by a transfer to retained earnings The trustees
have wawed their nghts to dividends on the shares held by the EBT Trust

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial habilities are recognised in the Group's statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument

Financlal assets

The Group’s financial assets comprise cash and vanous other receivable balances that anse from s operations Trade
recewvables, loans and other recewables that have fixed or determmable payments that are not quoted 1n an active market
are classified as loans and recewvables Loans and recewables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment Interest income 1s recognised by applying the
effective interest rate, except for short-term recewvables when the recognmition of interest would be immatenal

Financial assets are assessed for mpairment at each balance sheet date, and are impaired where there 1s cbjective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the inibal recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the mpairment loss directly for all financial assets with the

exception of trade recewvables, where the carrying amount 1s reduced through the use of an allowance account When a

trade receivable 1s considered uncollectible, it 1s wntten off against the allowance account Subsequent recoveres of

amounts previously wnitten off are credited against the allowance account Changes in the carrying amount of the

allowance account are recognised in profit and loss If in a subsequent penod the amount of the impaiment loss decreases

and the decreases can be related objectively to an event occurning after the impairment was recognised, the previously

recogmsed impairment loss i1s reversed through profit and loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the financial asset

at the date the mpairment 1s reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not i
been recognised

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand and bank deposits that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash
and are subject to an insignificant nsk of changes in value Bank overdrafts are classified with current iabiliies in the
Statement of Financial Position

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual nghts to the cash flows from the assets expire, or it
transfers the financial agset and substantizlly all of the nsks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership and contiues to control the asset,
the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and associated hability for amounts ¢ may have to pay If the Group
retains substantiaily afl the nsks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received

Financial habilities and equity

Financial hiabilities and equity instruments are initially measured at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost, and are
classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into

The Group's financial habilities comprise trade payables, borrowings, bank overdrafts and other payable balances that anse
from its operations They are classified as ‘financial habilties measured at amorlised cost’ Finance charges are accounted
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Accounting policies
For the year ended 31 December 2011

tor on an accrual basis in profit or loss using the effective interest rate method and are added to the carrying amount of the
Investment to the extent they are not settled in the penod in which they anse

The Group derecognises financial iabilities when the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire

Dernivative financial instruments

The Group manages its exposure to movements in exchange rates on its foreign currency income by enterning into currency
options and forward contracts Denvative financial instruments are recognised In the Group's statement of financial position
at fair value with changes in the fair value recognised in profit or loss

The Group has no interest rate denvatives

Segment reporting

Operating segments have been identified on the basis of internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating
decision maker to allocate resources and assess performance

Dividends

A final dividend distnibution to the Company's shareholders 15 recognised as a hability in the Group's financial statements in
the pericd in which the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders Intenm dividend distributions are
recognised in the penod in which they are approved and pard

Provisions and onerous contracts

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, and it 1s probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best estmate of the expenditure
required {o settle the obligation at the year end, and are discounted to present value where the effect 1s matenal

Where the Group has entered into contracts in which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract
exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it then a provision has been recogrused based on the
Drrectors’ best estimate of future unavoidable costs

Net debt

Net debt compnises cash and cash equivalents as defined in note 12, less long and short term borrowings
Invoice discounting
When trade recevables are discounted the gross amount receivable from customers 15 included as a current asset within

trade recevables with the advances received from the financier included as borrowings within current habilities

Equity and reserves

A detailed analysis of all components of equity 15 given in note 20
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Significant management judgement in applying accounting policles

in the process of applying the Group's accounting polictes the subjects requimng management estmation and judgement
that have the most significant risk of causing matenal adjustments o the amounts recognised in the financial statements
are descnbed below

Judgement and estimation

Goodwill impairment
The Group's determination of whether goodwill 1s mpaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating
units to which goodwill 1s allocated This requires estimation of future cash flows and the selection of a sutable discount rate

Acerued income
In making an estimate for t'me worked by contractors in December management exercises judgement based on the number of
working days in the menth, and past expenence

Revenue recognition

Revenue from permanent placements 1s recognised when a candidate accepts an offer of employment and a start date has
been determined There are occasionally circumstances where a candidate never takes up the offer of employment and the
revenue has to be backed out in subsequent penods A prowsion for back-outs 18 made at the ime of revenue recognitron,
based on an estimate of the number of employment offers that wall not be taken up

Deferred tax

The Group recognised a deferred tax asset of £165,000 (2010 nil) related to trading losses to be carned forward and relieved
agarnst profits ansing in future penods The decision to recognise the deferred tax asset 1s dependent on the Group's forecasts
on future profitability

Share based payments
The farr value of equity settled share based payments involves estimation of such factors as lapse rates and achievement of
performance critena
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2011

1 Segment reporting

Segment operating profit 1$ the profit earned by each segment excluding the aflocation of central administration costs, and 1s
the measure reported to the Group’s Chief Executive for performance management and resource allocation purposes The
Group changed its reporting segments during 2011to align reporting more closely with its strategic objectives Comparative
data for 2010 has been restated on to the new basis

(a) Revenue, gross profit and operating profit by discipline

For management purposes, the Group 15 orgamsed into two operating segments based on the practice areas operated by the
Group Both of the operating segments have similar economic characteristics and share a majority of the aggregation cntena
setoutin IFRS 8 12 The Group's reportable segments are as follows

- Professional Support Services, which includes Legal, Finance, Trading and Advisory, HR and Transformational
Technology practices,

- Techmical and Scientific, which includes Oil and Gas Natural Resources, Infrastructure and Pharmaceutical practices

Prachce areas are based on the discipline of the candidate being placed

2011 2010
Professional  Techmcal Professional Technical
support and Non- support and Non-
sarvices scientific  allocated Total services scientific  allocated Total
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Revenue 128,143 28,052 - 156,195 106,279 17,119 - 123,398
Gross profit 21,147 8,620 10 29,777 22,738 4,891 (35) 27,594
Depreciation and
amortisation 378 150 16 544 323 86 13 422
Operating
profit/{loss) 4,016 1,656 {1,806) 3,866 3,633 665 (1,694) 2,604
Finance costs {188) {162)
Finance income 32 18
Profit before tax 3,710 2,460

Non-atlocated costs in 2011 are partially offset by the utiisation of the onerous lease provision of £372,000 (2010

£413,000)

Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers There are no sales between segments in

the year (2010 Nil}

The accounting pelicies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies described above
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of central administration costs, finance

costs and finance mcome

There 1s one external customer that represented 35% of the entity's revenues, with revenue of £54,724,000, and
approximately 15% of the Group's net fee income, included in the Professional support services segment (2010 one
customer, revenue £31,741,000, Professional support services segment)
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(b) Revenue and gross profit by geography

Revenue Gross profit
2011 2010 2011 2010
£'000 £000 £'000 £°000
UK 125154 100,138 18,753 18,819
Rest of world 31,041 23,260 11,024 8,775
156,195 123,398 29,777 27,594
(c) Revenue and gross profit by recruitment classification
Revenue Gross profit
2011 2010 2011 2010
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Permanent 13,626 15,376 13,597 14,846
Contract 142,569 108,022 16,180 12,748
156,195 123,398 29,777 27,594
The information reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, or otherwise regularly provided to the chief operating
decision maker does not include information on net assets The cost to develop this information would be excessive 1n
companson to the value that would be denved
2  Finance costs
2011 2010
£'000 £'000
Interest on nvoice discounting 121 61
Interest on bank overdrafts and loans 6 20
Unwinding of provision discount 61 81
188 162
3 Finance income
2011 2010
£'000 £'000
Bank interest recewable 32 15
Other interest receivable - 3
32 18
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4  Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting)

2011 2010
£'000 £'000
Amortisation of intangible assels
- software assets 56 143
- domnain name 3 10
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
- owned assets 435 278
Staff costs (note 21) 19,294 18,919
Operating lease rentals on land and buildings 1,564 1,469
Operating lease income {(259) (290)
Foreign exchange losses 189 165
Loss/(gain) on disposal of assets 8 (22)
The analysis of auditor’s remuneration is as follows
Audit fees
Fees payable to the Company's auditer for the audit of the Company and Group annual
accounts 50 55
Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company's subsidiaries
pursuant to legislation 60 46
Total audt fees 110 101
Non-audit fees
- Other services 2 3
- Tax services (compliance and general tax advice) 19 25
Total non-audit fees i 28
5 Dividends
2011 2010
£000 £000
Amounts recognised and distnbuted to shareholders in the year
Intenm dividend for the year ended 31 December 2011 of 1 4p per share (2010 1 4p per share) 311 309
Second intenm dividend for the year ended 31 December 2009 of 3 6p per share - 807
Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2010 of 2 7p per share (2009 ni per share) 602 -
913 1,116

An intenm dividend of 1 4p (2010 1 4p) per share was paid on 4 November 2011 to shareholders on the register at the

close of business on 7 Octaber 2011 The interim dividend was approved by the Board on 5 September 2011

The final dvidend in relation to 2010 was recommended on 14 March 2011, and was not recognised as a hiability in the year

ended 31 December 2010

The Board propose a final dividend of 2 9p per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010 2 7p), to be
paid be paid on 25 May 2012 to shareholders on the register as at 4 May 2012 The proposed final dvidend has not been

approved by sharehoiders at 31 December 2011
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6 Tax

(a) Analys:s of tax charge for the year

2011 2010
The charge based on the profit for the year compnses £'000 £'000
Corporation tax
UK corporation tax on profits for the year 1,366 679
Adjustment to tax charge n respect of previous periods (14) 7
1,352 672
Foreign tax
Current tax ) )
Total current tax 1,352 672
Deferred tax
Ongmation and reversal of temporary differences (56) 36
Adjustments in respect of previous pernods - 1
Tota! deferred tax (56) 37
Tax charge on profit for the year 1,296 709

Corporation tax 1s calculated at 26 5% (2010 28%}) of the estimated assessable profits for the year Taxation for other
junisdictions 1s calculated at the rates prevailing i the respective junsdictions

{b)The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the statement of comprehensive income as follows

Profit before tax 3,710 2,460
Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 26 5% (2010 28%) 983 688
Effects of

Non deductible exceptional costs

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 98 133
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation 27 (67)
Tax losses arising 1n the year not relieved 195 -
Profits charged at {lower)/ higher rates of tax 18 16
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of prior penods {14) {7
Share-based payments 81 {10)
Cther (72) (45)
Tax charge for the year 1,296 708

There has been a deferred tax credd of £15,000 relating to share options charged directly to equity {2010 Nil} (see note 21)
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7  Goodwill
2011 2010
£'000 £'000
Cost
At 1 January 19,228 19,010
Additions - 218
At 31 December 19,228 19,228

Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January (5,570) (5,570)
Impairment charge - -

At 31 December {5,570) (5,570}

Carrying amount at 31 December 13,658 13.658

Allocation of goodwill to cash generating units (CGU}

Technology 9,530 9,530
Finance 1,749 1,749
Law 2,379 2379

13,658 13,658

Goodwll ansing on business combinations s tested annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that
the value of goodwill may have been impaired Goodwill has been tested for impairment by companng the carrying vatue
with the recoverable amount for each cash generating unit

The recoverable amount of each cash generating unit 1s determined on a value-in-use basis utiising the value of cash fiow
projections over eight years, which is estimated by management to be the duration of the recruitmeant cycle Cash flows are
discounted by the Group's weighted average cost of capital

Management determine that there has been no further impairment in the carrying value of goodwill

The key assumptions for growth rates and discount rates used in the impatrment review are stated below

Growth Growth

rate rate Discount

Cash generating unit 2012 2013 -18 rate
% % %

Technology (4%) 4%-5% 93%
Finance 0% 5% 9 3%
Law 0% 5% 5 3%

The growth rates for 2012 are taken from the Group’s operating plan for 2012 and reflect the Directors' view that there will
be lttle growth 1n UK recrutment markets in 2012, with potentially a small dechne in UK Technolegy markets due to
completion of specific client projecis

For the penods 2013 and later, where there 5 tess visibulity, the Directors have assumed a weak recovery in UK recruitment
markets However, recoverable amounts remam in excess of carrying values with no growth throughout the perniod 2013 to
2018

The discount rate used 1s an esttmate of the Group's weighted average cost of capital
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8  Other intangible assets

Domain names Computer

& trademarks software Total
Cost
At 1 January 2010 30 839 869
Additions - 59 59
Exchange difference - 3 3
Al 31 December 2010 30 901 931
Additions 471 471
At 31 December 2011 30 1,372 1,402
Amortisation
At 1 January 2010 17 681 698
Charge for the year 10 143 153
At 31 December 2010 27 824 851
Charge for the year 3 56 59
At 31 December 2011 30 880 910
Net book value at 31 December 2011 - 492 492
Net book value at 31 December 2010 3 77 80

Amortisation on intangible assets 1s charged to Administration expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income
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9  Property, plant and equipment

Computer
and office Motor Leasehold
equipment vehicles improvements Total
£'000 £'000 £°000 £'000
Cost
At 1 January 2010 1,127 306 537 1,970
Additions 358 60 923 1,341
Disposals - (88) - (88)
Exchange difference 12 - 7 19
At 31 December 2010 1,497 278 1,467 3,242
Additions 207 54 67 328
Disposals (42) {100) {9) {151)
Exchange difference (3) - - (3)
At 31 December 2011 1,659 232 1,525 3416
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2010 963 189 457 1,609
Charge for year 139 69 70 278
Disposals - {74) - (74)
Exchange difference - - - -
At 31 December 2010 1,102 184 527 1,813
Charge for the year 191 50 244 485
Disposals (15) (85) 2) (102}
Exchange difference - - - -
At 31 December 2011 1,278 149 769 2,196
Net book value at 31 December 2011 381 83 756 1,220
Net book value at 31 December 2010 395 94 940 1,429

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment i1s charged to Administration expenses in the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive income

The Group has pledged all of its assets to secure banking facilities granted to the Group (see note 14}
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10 Deferred tax

Share
Unutihised Accelerated based
losses depreciatron  payments Total
Deferred tax asset £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2010 - 200 139 339
Charged to profit or loss - (22) (5 (27)
At 31 December 2010 - 178 134 312
Credited/(charged) to the profit or loss 165 (76) N 82
Credited to reserves - - 15 15
At 31 December 2011 165 102 142 409
Accelerated
capital
allowances
Deferred tax (hability) £000
At 1 January 2010 (33)
Charged to profit or loss (10)
At 31 December 2010 (43)
Exchange differences 2)
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss (26)
At 31 December 2011 {71)

No reversal of deferred tax 1s expected within the next twelve months (2010 Nit)
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11 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are as foilows 2011 2010
£'000 £'000
Trade recewables 12,542 12,964
Allowance for doubtful debts (123) {362)
Prepayments and accrued income 13,135 13,615
Other recevables
- due within 12 months 55 88
- due after more than 12 months 543 1,311
Total 26,152 27,616
Current 25,609 26,305
Non current 543 1,311

As at 31 December 2011, the average credit penod taken on sales of recruitment services was 27 days (2010 25 days),
and the recewvables are predominantly non-interest bearing An allowance of £123,000 (2010 £362,000) has been made for
estimated irrecoverable amounts Due to the short-term nature of trade and other recevables, the Directors consider that
the carrying value approximates to their far value Income from write back of unutiised bad debt provision recognised in the
year was £116,000 (2010 expense £191,000)

Other receivables due after more than 12 months 1s predominately rental deposits on leasehold properties

The Group does not provide against receivables sclely on the basis of the age of the debt, as expenence has demonstrated
that this 1s not a reliable indicator of recoverabilly The Group provides fully against all recewvables where it has positive
evidence that the amount 1s not recoverable

The Group uses an external credit scoring system to assess the creditworthiness of new customers The Group supplies
mainly FTSE 100 and other major companies and major professional partnerships

Included in the Group's trade receivable balances are receivables with a carrying amount of £3,972.000 (2010 £4,405,000)
which are past due date at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided as the amounts are still considered
recoverable The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances

Ageing of past due but not tmpaired trade recewvables 2011 2010
(Number of days overdue) £000 £'000
0-30 days 2,316 2,763
30-60 days 982 883
60-90 days 536 450
90+ days 138 309
31 December 3,972 4,405
Movement in allowance for doubtful debts 20 2010

£'000 £'000
1 January (362) (210)
Impairment losses recognised (73) (319)
Previous impairment losses reversed 208 149
Amounts written off as uncollectible 107 18
31 December (123) (362)
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In determining the recoverabulity of trade receivables the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade

receivable from the date credit was inihally granted up to the reporting date The Directors believe that there 1s no further
credit provision required

Inctuded in the allowance for doubtful debts are indmiduaily impaired trade recevables of ENil (2010 £60,000) that have
been placed m administration or lqudation The impaiment recognised represents the whole of the carrying amount of
these trade recewvables (net of VAT), with no expected hiquidation proceeds The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances

Ageng of impaired trade recevables 2011 2010

£000 £000
30-60 days - 1
60-90 days - 131
90+ days 123 230
31 December 123 362

As at 31 December trade recevables to a value of £6,424,000 have been invoice discounted (2010 £7,873,000)

12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are as follows 2011 2010
£'000 £'000
Shor-term bank deposits 1,977 828
1,977 828

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with an cnginal maturnty of three
months or less, less bank overdrafts repayable on demand The carrying amount of these assets approximates their farr
value

13 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are as follows 2011 2010
£000 £'000

Trade payables 714 1,718
Cther taxes and socia! secunty costs 974 1,447
Other payables 1,659 1,644
Accruals and deferred income 10,966 11,875
14,313 16,684

Accruals and deferred income principally compnse accruals for amounts owed to contract staff for rme worked in
December The average credit penod taken on trade purchases, excluding contract staff costs, by the Group 1s 38 days
(2010 52 days), based on the average daily amount nvoiced by supplers Interest s charged by suppliers at varous rates
on payables not settled within terms The Group has procedures to ensure that payables are pawd to terms wherever
possible Due to the short-term nature value of trade and other payables, the Birectors consider that the carrying value
approximates to therr fair value
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14 Borrowings

Invoice discounting (repayable on demand)

2011 2010
£'000 £'000
3,330 3,040

The weighted average interest rate for the year charged on amounts drawn down on invoice discounting was 2 18% (2010

1 B8%)
Analysis of borrowing by interest rate 2011 2010
Capped Floating Fixed Capped Floating
£'000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000
Invoice discounting - 3,330 - 3,040
Impact of derivatives - - 200 200 -
- 3,330 200 200 3,040

The Group repaid all term loans in 2009 Dernvative cantracts for an interest rate swap and cap taken out at commencement
of the loans were retained as there was no commercial advantage in their early cancellation Both contracts expired on 31

March 2011

The principal amounts at 31 December 2011 were E£Nil on each contract (2010 £0 2m each contract)

Under the terms of the swap the Group received interest at vanable rates linked to LIBOR and pays interest fixed at 5 1%
The weighted average interest rate for interest paid under the swap for the year was 2 4% (2010 4 42%), and interest

amount £2,000

Under the terms of the cap the Group recewved interest for periods when vanable interest rates exceed the cap rate of 5 1%
There 15 no payment of interest when variable interest rates are below the cap rate of 5 1% There were no recelpts or
payments of interest in 2011 (2010 nil) as vanable rates were below the cap rate

15 Provisions

201 2010

Dilapid  Onerous Total Onerous

-auons lease lease

£'000 £'000 £'000 £000

At 1 January 84 647 rEg 8§79
New provisian 117 - 117 84
Utiised - (372) (372) (413)
Unwinding of discount - 61 61 81
At 31 December 201 336 537 731
Of which —~ expected to be incurred within 1 year - 336 336 356
- expected to be incurred in more than 1 year 201 - 201 375

Liabilities are discounted using the Group's estimated weighted cost of capital of 8 3%
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16 Share-based payments

All share-based payment arrangements are equity-settled

At the beginning of the year the Group awarded to Executive Directors and semior manager options over 355,000 shares
under the Hydrogen Group Unapproved Share Option scheme The number of options that vest 1s dependent on the net fee
income and profit before tax in the financial year 2013, and the vesting date 15 31 March 2014

On the same date, options over 290,000 ordinary shares were also granted to a number of employees of the Group under
the Hydrogen Group Unapproved Share Option scheme The number of options that vest on 31 March 2014 1s dependent
on the net fee iIncome and profit before tax in the financial year 2011

For both awards options may be exercised without the payment of an exercise price and may be exercised up to 10 years
from date of grant, after which they expire Cptions are forfeit f the employee leaves the Group before options vest, except
were the employee leaves for qualifying reasons

Details of the movements in share options dunng the years and the number outstanding at the end of the year was as
follows

Weighted Waeighted
average average
Number of exercise Number of exercise pnice
shares price shares 2010
2011 2011 2010 £

£
Outstanding at 1 January 1,249,044 0241 1,601,770 0 207
Granted dunng the year 645,000 0 000 - -
Forfeited dunng the year (98,424} 0 000 (276,314) 0 coo
Exercised during the year {159,492} 0 646 (76,412) 0404
QOutstanding at 31 December 1,636,128 0121 1,249,044 0241
Exercisable at 31 December 492,592 0 402 483,863 0624

The range of exercise prices for options outstandimg i all share option schemes at the end of the year was as follows

31 December 2011 31 December 2010
Weighted Weighted

Range of Number average Weighted Range of average Weighted

exercise of exercise average exercise Number of exercise average

price Options price  remaining life price Options price  remaining hfe

2006 award 73p-81p 247,045 77 7p 4 0years 73p-81p 387,445 777p & 0 years
2007 award Nil 197,006 Nl 55 years Nit 284,374 Nil € 5years
2008 award Nil 100,077 Nil 6 5 years Nil 107,225 Nil 7 Syears
2009 award Nil 462,000 Nil 7 S years Nil 470,000 Nil 8 S years
2011 award NIl 630,000 Nil 9 years - - - -

1,636,128 1,249,044

The weighted average share pnce at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the penod was E£1 13 (2010
£132)
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For nil cost options share price at date of grant represents fair value The farr value of employee services received in
exchange for share options 1ssued in 2006 were valued using a binomial option pricing mode! The inputs into the binomual
model given below Options issued In subsequent years are all ml cost options, where fair value always approximates to

share price at date of grant

Options Options Options Options Options

1ssued 1ssued 1ssued 1ssued issued

in 2011 in 2009 in 2008 n 2007 in 2006

Share price at date of grant 132p 56p - 90p 203p 293p 251p
Exercise pnce 000p 0 00p 0 00p 0 00p 80 5p
Fair value per ophion at grant date 132p S6p - 90p 203p 293p 16p — 18p
Expected volatility 20% - 50%
2/3 year

Expected option hfe at date of grant - 212 years
Rusk free interest rate 408% -4 75%
Expected dividend yield 1% - 2%

As Hydrogen was not a listed share when 2006 options were valued, expected volahlity was determined by reference to the
average histonical volatiity of the share price of a number of competitors

Share Incentive Plan (SIP)

During the year 2,434 (2010 32,046} shares were exercised and 440,811 (2010 443,245) shares were held in the

Hydrogen Group SIP Plan at the year end

The Group recognised total expense of £351,000 (2010 £126,000) relating to equity-setiled share based payment

transactions, in the year

17 Share capital

The share capital at 31 December 2011 and 2010 was as follows

201 2010

Ordinary shares of 1p each Number of Number of

shares £000 shares £'000
Authornsed
At 1 January and 31 December 40,000,000 400 40,000,000 400
Issued
At 1 January 23,510,624 235 23,434,212 234
Issuance of new shares for
employee share schemes 3,800 - 76,412 1
31 December 23,514,424 235 23,510,624 235

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carmes no nght to fixed income

Duning 2011, 159,492 options were exercised (2010 76,412), as set out In note 16 Of these options, 155 692 were
satisfied from shares 1ssued by the EBT, and 3,800 from issuance of new shares

At 31 December 2011 1,166,574 (2010, 1,172,266) shares were held in the EBT trust (see note 18)

At 31 December 2011, 440,811 ordinary shares (2010, 443,245) ordinary shares were held in the Hydrogen Group plc
Share Incentive Plan (see note 16) trust for employees
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18 Own shares

Cunng the year the Company donated the funds to enable the EBT trust to purchase 150,000 ordinary shares of Hydrogen
Group pic for a total consideration of £129,000 The EBT utiised 155,692 shares to satisfy options exercised by employees
At 31 December 2011, the total number of ordinary shares held in the EBT and their values were as follows

Shares held for share option schemes 2011 201¢
Number of shares 1,166,574 1,172,266

£'000 £000
Nominal value 12 12
Carrying value 1,320 1,373
Market value 904 1,547

19 Earnings per share

Earnings per share 1s calculated by dividing the profit attnbutable to equity holders of the Group by the weighted average

number of ordinary shares in issue

Fully dluted earnings per share 1s calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares by existing
share options and share incentive plans, assuming dilution through conversion of all existing options and shares held in

share plans

From continuing operations 2011 2010
£'000 £'000

Earnings

Profit attnbutable to equity holders of the parent 2,400 1,751

Number of shares

Weighted average number of shares used for basic and adjusted earnings per share 21,909,409 21,991,151

Dilutive effect of share plans 1,521,828 1,204,319

Diduted weighted average number of shares used to

calculate diluted and adjusted diluted earnings per share 23,431,237 23,195,470

Basic earmngs per share (pence) 10 95p 7 S6p

Diuted earnings per share (pence) 10 24p 7 54p
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20 Equity
Share Trans-
Share Share Merger Own option Other lation Retained Total
capital premium  reserve shares reserve reserve reserve  earnings  equity

£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2010 234 3,479 16,100 (838) 100 1,267 80 2,102 22,524
Profit for the year . - - - . . . 1,751 1,761
Diwvidends . - R - . . - (1,116) {(1.116)
Share option charge - - - - - 126 - - 126
Purchase of shares by
EBT - - - (535) - - - - (535)
Increase in share
capital 1 Y| - - - - - - 32
Fareign currency
translation - - - - - - 269 - 269
At 31 December 2010 235 3,510 16,100 (1,373) 100 1,393 349 2,737 23,051
At 1 January 2011 235 3,510 16,100 (1,373) 100 1,393 349 2,737 23,051
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 2,414 2,414
Dividends - - - - - - - (913) (913)
Share option charge - - - - - 351 - - 351
Tax on share option
charge - - - - - - - 15 15
Purchase of shares by
EBT - - - (129) - - - - (129}
Shares 1ssued by EBT - - - 182 . - - (79) 103
Increase in share
capital - 2 - - - - - - 2
Foreign currency
translation - - - - - - (14) - (14)
At 31 December 2011 235 3,612 16,100 (1,320) 100 1,744 335 4,174 24,880
Share capital

The balance of share capital represents the aggregate nominal value of all ordinary shares in issue

Share premium
The balance on the share premium reserve represents the amounts received In excess of the nominal value of the ordinary
shares

Merger reserve
The balance on the merger reserve represents the fair value of the consideration given in excess of the nominal value of
the ordinary shares 1ssued on the acquisition of Hydrogen International Limited and Professionals Group Limited

Own shares
The balance on the own shares reserve represents the cost of shares in Hydrogen Group plc purchased by the Employee
Benefit Trust to meet the Group's future requirements under its share option schemes

Share option reserve

This reserve represents the cumulative amounts charged to profit in respect of employee share-based payment
arrangements for Hydrogen employees, where the scheme has not yet been settled by means of an award of shares to an
ndwidual

Other reserve
This reserve represents the cumulative amount reserved for opuions 1ssued to and exercised by employees of subsidiary
companies In respect of employee share-based payment arrangements

Translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve 1s used to record exchange differences ansing from the translations of the financial
statements of foreign operations into the presentation currency of the group accounts

Retained earnings
The balance held on this reserve Is the accumulated retained profits of the Group
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21 Employees

The monthly average number of employees (including Directors) during the year and the total number of employees at 31
December 2011 was as follows

Average no Average no 31 December 31 December

2011 2010 2011 2010

Client services 255 232 269 237
Administration 86 74 86 87
Management 6 5 7 5
347 311 362 329

Staff costs (including Directors’ costs) are as follows and have been included in Administration Expenses in Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income

2011 2010
£'000 £'00C
Wages and salares 17,117 16,982
Social secunty costs 1,775 1,782
Other pension costs 51 29
Share-based payments (see note 16) 351 126
19,294 18,919

Directors’ emoluments
2011 2010
£'000 £'000
Emoluments for qualifytng services 912 1,179
912 1,179

The table of Directors’ emoluments includes those Directors that have resigned dunng the year information on Directors’
ermcluments and interests, which form part of these audited financial statements, 1s given in the Directors Remuneration
Report

Emoluments disclosed above include the following amounts paid to the highest paid Director

2011 2010

£'000 £'000

Emoluments for qualifying services 308 395
308 395

The Directors did not exercise any share opttons during the year (2010 nil)
The number of Directers to whom retwement benefits are accruing under money purchase pension schemes was nil (2010
nl}

Remuneration of key management

2011 2010

£'000 £'000

Emotuments 2,495 3,375
Share-based payments 280 64
Money purchase pension contributions 48 45
2,823 3,484

Key management, including Executive and Non-Executive Directors above, includes senior divisional managers
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22 Notes to the cash flow statement

a Reconcihation of profit/(loss) before tax to net cash inflow from operating activities

2011 2010

£'000 £'000
Profit before taxation 3,710 2,460
Adjusted for
Depreciation and amortisation 544 422
Utiisation of onerous lease provision (372) {396)
Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment 8 (22)
Share-based payments 351 126
Net finance costs 156 225
Operating cash flows before movements in working capitat and exceptienal costs 4,397 2,815
Decrease/(increase) in recelvables 1,436 (12,277)
(Decrease)/increase in payables {2,253) 7,731
Cash generated from/{used n} operating aclivities before exceptional costs 3,580 (1,731)
Income taxes paid (922) (484)
Finance costs (127) {161)
Net cash inflow /(outflow) from operating activihes before exceptional costs 2,531 (2,376)
Cash flows ansing from exceptional costs - (17)
Net cash inflow/{outflow) from operating activibies 2,531 (2,393)
b Reconcihation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

2011 2010

£'000 £'000
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the year 1,149 {2,280)
Increase in net debt resulting from cash flows (290) (3,040)
(Increase)/decrease in net debt during the year 859 (5,320)
Net {debt)/ funds at the start of the year {2,212) 3,108
Net debt at the end of the year {1,353) (2,212)
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23 Operating lease commitments

At the reporting date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-canceltable
operating leases, which fall due as follows

20114 2010

£'000 £'000
Within one year 1,549 1,524 i
Between one and five years 914 1,808

2,463 3,332 '

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for its office properties Leases are negotiated for an
average term of 3 7 years and rentals are fixed for an average of 2 2 years

At the reporting date, the Group had future minimum lease recewvables under non-cancellable operating feases, which fall
due as follows

2011 2010

£'000 £000

Within one year 229 261
Between one and five years - 229
229 490

Operating lease payment recevables are rentals due under the sub-lease of its office properties Rentals are fixed to the
end of the fease in 2012

24 Financial nsk management
Capital nsk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance The capital structure of the
Greup consists of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, compnsing 1ssued
capntal, reserves and retained earnings n note 20

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearnng ratio

The Board of Directors regularly review the capital structure of the Group Over the long term the Group has a target
gearing ratio in the range of 25%-30% as determtined as net debt to equity, but makes adjustments to it 1n the light of
changes in economic circumstances or Group structure There have been no other significant changes in capital structure
implemented in the year ended 31 December 2011

The geanng ratio at the year end 1s as follows 2011 2010

£'000 £'000
Debt {3.330) {3.040)
Cash and cash equivalents 1,977 828
Net (debt)/cash (1,353) {2,212)
Equity 25,709 23,051
Net debt to equity ratio 53% 9 6%

Debt is defined as long and short-term borrowings
Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group attrbutable to equity holders of the parent

Externally imposed capital requirements
The Group 1s not subject to externally imposed capital requirements
Swgmificant accounting policies

Details of the significant accountng policies and methods adopted, including the critena for recognition, the basis of
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset,
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financial habity and equity instrument are disclosed n the accounting policies section of the financial statements There
have been no significant changes in accounting policy in the year ended 31 December 2011

Categonies of financial instruments

The Group’s financial instruments are surnmansed below The purpose of these instruments I1s to finance the Group's
operations, from which they anse They are predominately short term in nature, and hence their carrying value
approximates to their fair value

2011 2010
£'000 £'000
Financial assets
Loans and recevables
Trade and other receivables net of impairment provision 12,419 12,602
Other receivables 598 1,399
Cash and cash equivalents 1,977 828
14,994 14,829
Financial habilities at amortised cost
Trade and other payables 14,343 16,684
Borrowings 3,330 3,040
17,643 19,724

The main nsks arising from the Group's financial instruments are foreign currency risk, interest rate nsk, credit nsk and
liquidity risk

Foreign currency nsks

The Group publishes its consolidated financial statements in Sterling and approximately 80% of its revenues are in Sterling
For contract business the Group endeavours 10 pay and bl in the same currency to provide a natural hedge The Group
uses currency options to manage any remaining exposure to fareign currency nsk A contract to sell €2m for £1 7m before
31 March 2012 was outstanding at year end

The functional currencies of the Group's main operating subsidiaries are Sterling, the Singapore, Hong Kong and Australian
dollar The Group's subsidianes generally raise invoices and incur expenses in their locat currencies

The Group 15 exposed to foreign currency translation differences in accounting for its investment in cverseas operations
The settlement of intercompany balances held with foreign operations 1s neither planned nor likely to occur in the
foreseeable future Therefore, exchange differences ansing from the transtaton of the net investments are recognised In
other comprehensive tncome

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate nsk anses on its drawdown con its UK invoice discounting faciity Given the current
low level of interest rates, and the high level of vanability in the amount and duration of its drawdown, the Group does not
actively manage its exposure to interest rate fluctuations

Credit nsk

The Group's principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, and trade and other receivables The carrying amount
of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which 1s net of impaiment losses, represents the Group's maximum
exposure to credit losses

The Group does not hold any secunty as collateral against these financial assets

The Group's credit nsk anses pnmanly on its trade recervables The Group transacts with a large number of customers
across a vanety of industry sectors On-going credit evaluation and management of exposures 1s undertaken, utiising
external credit ratings At the year end no customer represented more than 5% of the total balance of trade recewables

It 15 the Directors’ opinion that no further prowvision for doubtful debts 1s required

Liquidity nsk
The Group manages ts hquidity nsk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking and borrowing facilities, by continuously
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows on a regular basis and matching the matunty profiles of financial assets and
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liabilities to determine whether the Group has sufficient cash and credit faciities to meet future working capital requirements
and to take advantage of business opportuntties

The Group has a £18m invoice discounting facility committed to February 2014, and are considered adequate to meet the
Group's funding requirements

The Group has no financial habilities other than short term trade payables and accruals disclosed n note 13, all due within
one year of the year end The Group's contractual matunties for its dernative financial habilities are not matenal

25 Related party transactions

Transachons between the Company and its subsidianes, which are related parttes, have been eliminated on consolidation
and are not disclosed in this note The Directors receive remuneration from the Company, which 1s disclosed in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report As sharehelders, the Directors also recewve dividends from the Company

2011 2010
£'000 £'000
Dividends paid to Directors 286 445

No single party has vitimate control of the company
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Independent auditor's report
To the members of Hydrogen Group plc

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Hydrogen Group plc for the year ended 31 December 2011
which compnse the parent company balance sheet and the related notes The financial reporting framework that has been
apphed in their preparation i1s applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice)

This report 15 made solely to the company’'s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006 OQur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's members as a body,
for our audit work, for this repor, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibiliies Statement (set out on page 22), the Directors are responsible for
the preparation of the parent company financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and farr view Our
responsibility 1s to audit and express an opiron on the parent company financial statements in accordance with applicable
{aw and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing
Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements 1s provided on the APB's website at
www frc org uk/apb/scope/private cfm

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the parent company financial statements

. give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2011,

. have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and
. have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opivion the information given in the Directors' Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared 1s consistent with the parent company financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you If,
in our opINION

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us, or

+ the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or

« certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

+ we have not receved all the information and explanations we require for ou'r audit

Other matter

We have reported separately on the group financial statements of Hydrogen Group ple for the year ended 31 December
2011

Geonk Tlhs raton Wi @

Charles Hutton-Potts BSc, FCA

Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
London

2 March 2012
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Parent company balance sheet
As at 31 December 2011

2011 2010
Note £000 £000

Fixed assets
Intangible assets 4 - 4
Tangible assets 5 - 3
Investments 6 7,088 7,076

7,088 7,083
Current assets
Debtors due in more than 12 months 7 1,798 2,032
Debtors due within 12 months 7 1,889 1,194
Cash at bank and in hand 17 62

3,704 3,288
Creditors amounts falling due within one year 8 1,939 1,191
Net current assets 1,765 2,097
Total assets less current habilities 8,853 9,180
Net assets 8,853 8,180
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 9 235 235
Own shares held 10 (1,320) {1,373)
Share premium account 11 3,512 3,510
Share option reserve 11 100 100
Other reserve 1 106 15
Profit and loss account 1 6,220 6,693
Equity shareholders’ funds 8,853 6,180

The financial statements on pages 56 tc 63 were approved by the Board of Directors and authonsed for 1ssue on 2 March 2012
and are signed on 1s behalf by

Director

]

i

Company registration number 5563206
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HYDROGEN GROUP PLC
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1 Significant accounting policies
Basis of accounting

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006 They have been
prepared under the histonc cost convention and in accordance with applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards and
law

The principal accounting policies used in the preparation of the Company financial statements are summansed below They
have all been applied consistently throughout the year and the preceding year

Tangible fixed assets and depreciation

Fixed assets are stated at histonca! cost
Depreciation i1s provided on computer and office equipment at 33% straight line on cost less estimated residual value

Investments
Fixed asset investments in subsidianes are stated at cost less prowision for impairment
Deferred taxation

Deferred tax 1s recognised in respect of all trming differences that have onginated but not reversed at the balance sheet date
where transactions or events that result in an obligaton to pay more tax in the future or a nght to pay less tax in the fulure have
occurred at the balance sheet date Timing differences are differences between the Group's taxable prefits and its results as
stated in the financial statements that anse from the inclusion of gains and losses in tax assessments in penods different from
those in which they are recognised in the financial statements

Deferred tax 1s measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the pencds in which timing differences are
expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the batance sheet date
Deferred tax 13 measured on a non-discounted basis

Dividends

Dwvidend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recogrised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the
penod in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders Intenm dividend distribution is recognised in
the penod in which they are approved and paid

Share-hased payments

Where options are awarded after 7 November 2002 and that were unvested as of 1 January 2008, the farr value of the
employee services received in exchange for the grant of the share options 1s charged to profit and ioss over the vesting
penod of the share option, based on the number of options which are expected to become exercisable A corresponding
adjustment 1s made to equity Fair value 1s measured by use of a binomial model At each balance sheet date, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable and recogrises the impact of any
revision of original estimates in the profit and loss account with a corresponding adjustment to equity

When the options are exercised the proceeds receved are credited to share capital and share premium
Financial instruments

Financial labilties and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractuat arrangements entered
into An equity instrument i1s any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all its
financial habilities

Where the contractual obligations of financial instruments {including share capital) are equivalent to a similar debt instrument,
those financial instruments are classified as financial iabiities Financial habtlites are presented as such in the balance sheet
Finance costs and gamns or losses relating to financial habilities are included m the profit and loss account

Where the contractual terms of share capital do not have any terms meeting the definition of a financial ability then this 1s
classed as an equity instrument Dividends and distnbutions relating to equity instruments are debited directly to profit and loss
reserves
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2 Profit for the year

As pemitted by Section 408 of the Comparies Act 2006 the profit and loss account for the Company is not presented as part
of these financial statements Hydrogen Group pic reported a profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 of
£504,000 (2010 £156,000)

The auditor's remuneration for audit of the Company 1s £10,000 (2010 £10,000)

Fees payable to Grant Thornton UK LLP and therr associates for non-audit services to the Company are not required to be
disclosed because the consolidated financial statements are required to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis

3 Dividend

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year

2011 2010
£'000 £'000

Amounts recogrmised and distributed to shareholders in the year
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2011 of 1 4p per share (2010 1 4p per share) 314 309
Second interm dividend for the year ended 31 Decermber 2009 of 3 6p per share - 807
Final dwvidend for the year ended 31 December 2010 of 2 7p per share (2009 mil per share) 602 -
213 1,116

An interm dividend of 1 4p (2010 1 4p) per share was paid on 4 November 2011 to shareholders on the register at the
close of business on 7 Octeber 2011 The interm dwvidend was approved by the Board on 5 September 2011

The final dmidend i relation to 2010 was agreed on 14 March 2011, and was not recognised as a liability in the year ended
31 December 2010

The Board propose a final dvidend of 2 9p per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010 2 7p), to be
paid be paid on 25 May 2012 to shareholders on the register as at 4 May 2012 The proposed final dividend has not been
approved by shareholders at 31 December 2011

4 Intangible fixed assets

Domain names

and
Trademarks
£'000
Cost

At 1 January 2011and 31 December 2011 30

Amortisation
At 1 January 2011 26
Amaortisation for the year 4
At 31 December 2011 30
Net book value at 31 December 2011 .
Net book value at 31 December 2010 4
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s Tangtble fixed assets

Computer and
office equipment

£000
Cost
At 1 January 2011 36
Additions -
At 31 December 2011 16
Amortisation
At 1 January 2011 33
Depreciation for the year 3
At 31 December 2011 36
Net book value at 31 December 2011 -
Net book value at 31 December 2010 3
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6 Fixed asset investments

2011 2010
£000 £'000
Subsidiary undertakings at cost
At 1 January 7,076 6,418
Additions 12 658
Batance at 31 December 7,088 7,076

% ordinary share

Country of capital and voting

Subsidiary incorporation Nature of activities rights

Hydrogen UK Limited® United Kingdom Recruitment 100%
Hydrcgen International Limited United Kingdom Recruitment 100%
Hydregen Group Pty Limited Australia Recruitment 100%
Hydrogen Group Pte Limited Singapore Recrutment 100%
Hydrogen Group Limited Hong Kong Recruitment 100%
Hydrogen Norge AS Norway Recruitment 100%
Professionals Group Limited United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Hydrogen Employee Share Group Limited United Kingdom Trustee of Share 100%

Incentive Plan

KHG Partners Limited United Kingdom Recrutment 100%
Target Partners Limited™ Umited Kingdom Dormant 100%
Hydrogen Consulting Limited* Umited Kingdom Dormant 100%
Law Professionals Limited* United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Audit Professionals Limited* United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Technology Professionals Limited” United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Sales Professtonals Limited* United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Human Resources Professionals Limited™ United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Taxahon Professionals Limited* United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Finance Professionals Limited*® United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Professional Recruitment Organisation Limited* United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Pro Source Internationa! Limited* United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Partners Group Limited* United Kingdom Domant 100%
Timeterecruit Limited* United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Reflect Limited*” United Kingdom Domant 100%
Commerce Parthers Limited* United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Project Partners Limited* United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Ftnance Partners Limited* United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Partners Search and Selection Limited* United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Eunsko Search Limited* United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Darwin Park Limited* United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Pro Limited Unrted Kingdom Dormant 100%
Propartners Limited United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Hydrogen Business Solutions Limited United Kingdom Dormant 100%
Hydrogen Recruitment Lirmited United Kingdom Dormant 100%

*held indirectly
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7 Debtors
2011 2010
£'000 £'000
Due wathin one year
Amounts owed by group companies 1,527 1,150
Other taxation and social security 327 24
Prepayments 35 20
1,889 1,194
Due after more than one year
Amounts owed by Group companies 1,774 2,021
Deferred tax
- accelerated depreciation 4 4
- share based costs 20 7
24 11
1,798 2,032
3,687 3,226
|
% 8 Creditors amounts falling due within one year
! 2011 2010
£000 £'000
Trade creditors 21 37
Other creditors - 150
Amounts owed to group companies 1,279 358
Corporation tax 70 81
Accruals and deferred income 569 565
| 1,939 1,191
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9 Share capital

The share capital at 31 December 2011 and 2010 was as follows

2011 2010

Ordinary shares of 1p each Number of Number of

shares £'000 shares £'000
Authonsed
At 1 January and 31 December - 40,000,000 400 40,000,000 400
Issued
At 1 January 23,510,624 235 23,434,212 234
Issue of new shares for employee share schemes 3,800 - 76,412 1
31 December 23,514,424 235 23,510,624 235

The Company has ane class of ordinary shares which carnes no nght to fixed income

During 2011, 159,492 options were exercised (2010 76,412), as set out in note 16 Of these options, 155 692 were

satisfied from shares 1ssued by the EBT, and 3,800 from 1ssuance of new shares

At 31 December 2011 1,166,574 (2010, 1,172,266) shares were held in the EBT trust (see note 18)

At 31 Decermnber 2011, 440,811 ordinary shares (2010, 443,245) ordinary shares were held in the Hydrogen Group plc

Share Incentive Plan {see note 16) trust for employees

10 Own shares

Dunng the year the Company donated the funds to enable the EBT trust to purchase 150,000 ordinary shares of Hydrogen

Group plc for a total consideration of £129,000 The EBT utiised 155,692 shares to satisfy options exercised by

employees

At 31 December 2011, the tota! number of ordinary shares held in the EBT and their values were as follows

Shares held for share option schemes 2011 2010
Number of shares 1,166,574 1,172,266

£000 £'000
Nomrnal value 12 12
Carrying value 1,320 1,373
Market value %04 1,547
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11 Reserves

Own Share
shares Share option Other Retained
held premium reserve reserve earnings
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Balance at 1 January 2011 {1,373) 3,510 100 15 6,693
Profit for the year - - - - 504
Dwidends paid - - - - (913)
Share option charge - - - 91 -
Shares purchased by EBT (129) - - - -
Shares issued from EBT 182 - - - (79)
Increase in share capital - 2 - - -
Exchange gan - - - - 15
Balance at 31 December 2011 {1,320) 3,512 100 106 6,220
12  Reconcihation of movement in shareholders’ funds
2011 2010
£'000 £'000
Profit for the financial year 504 156
Dividends paid {913) (1,116)
Share option charge 91 15
Shares issued from EBT 103 -
Shares purchased by EBT (129) (534)
Increase in share capital 2 31
Exchange gain 15 326
Net addition to shareholders’ funds (327} (1,122)
Opening shareholders’ funds 9,180 10,302
Closing shareholders’ funds 8,853 9,180

13 Contingent habilities

The Company has entered into a cross guarantee in respect of the banking faciities of its subsidiary undertakings which
amounied to £3,330,000 (2010 £3,040,000) at the balance sheet date

14 Related parties

As permitted by FRS 8 the Company has not disclosed transactions with subsidiaries in its own accounts as these
accounts are presented together with the consolidated group financial statements
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Directors’ remuneration report
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Scope and membaorship of Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Commiltea meets not less than twice a year and comprises the indapendent Non.Exacutive Directors
The Commuitee s chawed by Martyn Philllps The Executive Charman and Executive Directars attend tha maatings by
inwtation, but are not present when thew own remunersation 1s under consideration

The purpose of the Remuneration Commultee 15 to raview, on behalf of the Board the remuneration policy for the
Chaiman, Executive Dwectors and other Senror Executives and to determine the level of remuneration, incentives and
ather benefils, compensation paymeants and the terms of employrnent of the Executive Directors and othar Senior
Executives It seeks to provide a remuneration package that aligns the Inlerests of Exacutive Directors wath that of the

shareholders

The Commities reviews the ramuneration of the Executive Directors with regard to the need to mantan a balance betwoen
the conslituent elements of salary, incentive and cther benefils The Remuneration Commuttee met on five occasions i
2011, four of which were fully atiended and one were one direciar was absen! The Terms of Reference for the
Remuneration Committee may be found on tha Group's websita, Lavw hydrogengroup com

Remuncration policy

The otjective of the Group s remuneration pol.cy 18 10 al'ract, motivate and retain management with the approprate
professional managenal and operational expertise necessary to realise the Group s objectives as well as to establish a
framewaork for remunerating ali employees

It 1s the Group s pohicy that ali Executive Directors’ senice contracts contam a 12 manths notice penod The Non-Executive
Duectors have lalters of appowntment with the Group whuch have notice penods of three months

The remunesation of the Non-Executive Directors 1s detemmined by the Board The Non Exacutive Directors do nol recerve
any pension or other benefits, other than aut-of-packet expenses from the Group, nor do they partcipate m any of the
banus or share option schemes

The remuneration agreed by the Commattee for the Execulive Directors contains the following elements a base salary and
benefiits a bi-annual and an annual bonus reflecting Group and indwvidual performanca and share options

The following sections provide an outhine of the Group s remuneration pahcy

Base satacy and benefits

Semice contracts exist for each Executive Director thal sel contractual obligakons The Commutee establishes salanes and
benelits by reference to those prevailing in the employment market generally for Executive Directors of companies of
comparable status and marke! value Rewviews of such base salary and benefits are conducted annually by the Committee
having regard to wage wniffation in the economy No salary increases vere granted for 2010 The axteral benchmarking
conducted in 2011t was the first to lake account of the increased complexity associated with a business defving a
sigmificant proportion of i3 mcoma feom international actwities, and concluded that remunaration levels were some way
bataw the madket median As a consgquence average salary increases of 15% wota awarded to the exssting members of
the Board i January 2011 but were deferrad by the crrectors to July 2011 Mo salary increases have been awarded for

2012

Annual bonus plan

The Commuttea femiy beligves in the eflectiventass of mcentive bonuses Accordingly every employee of the Group 1s 10
some form of incentive scheme

Annual bonuses for the Exacutive Directors are sel by the Remuneration Commiltee at the stast of each year and are

dependant on the actievernent of objectives and aet fee ncome targets dunng the financial year In 2011 the maximum
annual bonus enttlemnent for Executrve Directors was equal to 100% of their base salary and the average earned in the

year was 40%
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Directors’ remuneration report
For the year ended 31 December 2011

Sharo option schemes

Dunng 2011 share octions were granted 1o Executive Directors under the Hydrogen Group Unapproved share opton
scheme (see note 16} As at the year end the options cutstanding are set out in the table below

Options
Year Options  Granted Exercised  outstanding Earbast Latest Exercise
of outstanding dunng  dunng the 31 exarcise exercise price per
1ssue VJanuary _the year year December date date option (£)
2011
EMI Options
Tim Smeaton 2006 124,200 - - 124 200 29/09/06 29/09/16 0 805
2009 22,362 - - 22 352 3103H3 201019 il
lan Temple 2009 40 000 - - 40 000 3103413 20/10/19 Nit
John Glover 2007 35,205 - - 35,205 30/08/10 30/09/17 Nil
2009 28 808 - - 28,808 30313 201019 Nil
Unapproved oplions
Tim Smeaton 2009 17,638 - - 17 638 3140313 20010119 Ml
2014 - 138000 - 138 000 1014 210221 Nil
lan Temple 2011 - 38,000 - 38 000 31014 210221 il
John Glover 200/ 5,750 - - 5 750 20/09/10  30/0917 Nil
2009 9,192 - - 9,192 31/03/13 20010119 Mil
2011 - 38,000 - 38,000 3103/14 21402121 Nl
283,155 214,000 - 497,155
2010
EMI Opuons
Tim Smaaton 2006 124 200 - - 124,200 29/09:086 29/09/18 0 805
2009 22 362 - 22,382 310313 2010419 Nil
lan Temple 20409 40,000 - - 40,000 31/03/13 2010119 Nl
John Glover 2007 35,205 - - 35,205 30009410 30/09/17 Mk
2009 28 808 - - 28,808 3033 201019 N
Unapproved aplions
Tun Smeaton 2009 17638 . - 17,638 31103113 20110119 Nil
John Glover 2007 5750 - . 5,750 30009710 008417 il
2009 9,192 - 9,192 31033 200110419 MNil
283 153 - - 283,155
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Performance critena

The performance crtena on Drectors share oplions are as lollows

Cptions tssued 10 2006

Options vested w full on adrmission of the Hydrogen Group plc to the AIM market in 2006

Optians issued n 2007

QOpuons vested i three tranches m the penod 2008-2010 dependent on the profitabiity of tha Hydrogen Group plc m each
of these three years The performance cnigsia wera met on 50% of the options, the remaining 40% lapsed
QOplons 1ssued in 2009

Options vest in 2013 dependent on the profitatklity of the Hydrogen Group plcin the perfod 2010 to 2012
Options 1ssued tn 2011

Opuions vest in 2014 dependent on the net fee mcome and profitabity of the Hydregen Grougp pic 1n 2013

Share option schemeo far Directors

Ounng the year eptions aver shares were granted to Exacutive Directors under the Hydrogen Group Unapproved Share

Option schema The number of ophions that vest 15 dependent on Hydrogen Group ple nel fee Incorne and profitability for

the financial year 2013, and tite vestwig data 1s 31 March 2014 Options may be exarcsed without the payment of an

exerctse price and may be exercised up to 10 years from date of grant, after which they expira Optians are forfait if the

Director leaves the Group before options vest excepl where the Diector leaves for qualifying reasons Detaill on the

number of optians issued duning the year and the number outstanding at 31 December 2011 ara gwen in note 16 |

Share options schame for senior employoes

Duning the year options over shares were granted to senior employees below Board tavel Oplions wera granted unader the
Hydrogen Group Unapproved Share Opltion schema The number of aptions that vest 1s dependent on the Hydrogen Group
plc Net Feea tncome and Profitability far the financial year 2011 and the vesting date 1s 31 March 2013 Options may be
exercised without the payment of an exercise price and may be exercised up to 10 years fram date of grant after which
they axprre Qptions are forfelt if the employee teaves the Group before ophons vest, except whera the employea l@aves for
qualifying reasons Detad on the number of options issued during the year and the number outstanding at 31 December
2011 are given 10 note 16

Share price chart

Set out below s a graph of the Compdany’s share price performance sice flotation on AIM, benchmarked agamst the
support services index

Share Price ip)

? ;
501t - - .. .......... P"L’r’{t" et .

+

2007 2008 2009 2010 201t 012

M Hydrogen Group PLC W Support Senvicas (rebased)

Sousce London Stock Exchange provided by Hermscott Group Limited
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Emoluments
The aggregate emoluments of the Direclors for the year were as follows

Salary and
fess Benefits Bonuses Total Pension Total
£'000 £000 £ 000 £'000 - £ 000 £'000

2011
Executive Directors
Tun Smeaton 215 2 N 308 . 308
lan Temple 215 2 72 289 - 289
John Glover 147 1 69 217 - 217
Noan-Exgcutive Directors
tshbel Macpherson 40 . - 40 - 40
Martyn Phillips 33 . - 33 - 33
tan Fallmann 25 - - 25 - 25
Aggregata emoluments 675 5 232 912 - 912
2010
Executive Oirectors
Tim Smeaton 195 12 188 395 - 395
tan Templa 195 12 173 380 - 380
John Glover 130 7 126 263 - 263
Chns Cole* 63 5 12 80 - 80
Non-Executive Directors
ishbel Macpherscn 35 - 35 - a5
Martyn Philhps 20 - 20 - 20
lan Fallmann {from date of
appointment 7/10/10) 8 - - G - 6
Aggregate emoluments 644 36 499 1179 . 1,179

* ressgned from the Board on 2 March 2010

Benefis above include car allowance and medical insurance The Group does not operate a defined benefit pension
scheme

Qutside appomntments

Tha Remuneration Commultes recogmsas that Noa-Execubive Director roles can be a sigmificant benefit in broadening the
Executiva Board's experience Subject to review 1y each case, the Remuneration Committee s general policy ts that
Execulive Directors may accept Non-Executive Director roles with other compantes so lang as there 1s no conflict of
nterest and therr effectiveness 1s not impawed The Executive 15 permilted to ratain any fees for the service None of the
Executive Direciors currantly held any non-axecutive diractor appoiniments

Service contracts
All Executive Directors service contracts con'ain a 12 month nolice pencd The service contragss also contain resinclive

covenants preventing the Executive Crectors from competing with the Group for ong year folowang the termunation of
employment and preventing Executive Directots fram soliciting key employees clients ang candidales or the emplayrg
Group and Group companies for 12 months foliowing termination of empleyment On termimation any comsensalion
payments due to a Director are calculated in accerdance with normal legat principles

Annuat resolution

SWN n the opporurity Lo approve the Remuneration Report at tha Annual General Mesaling

M Phillios
Charman Remuneraton Commutiee

16




